
CITY OF LAKELAND 
 

Nuisance Abatement Board 
April 16, 2025 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
 

CALL TO ORDER – 3:00 p.m. 
 
 

ROLL CALL 
Terry Carter, Dawn Chapman, Elena Giarratano, Daniel Price, John Quirk III, David 

Stille, and Alonzo Thompson 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 19, 2025 
 

  
SWEAR IN WITNESSES 

 
 

NEW COMPLAINTS 
Complaint 2025-002, 1502 Amos Avenue 
Complaint 2025-003, 523 ½ Quincy Street 

 
 

RECONSIDERATIONS 
Complaint 2024-008, 831 Glendale Street 

Complaint 2025-001, 4406 Horse Creek Lane 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 

CALL FOR ADJOURNMENT 
 

 

 

 

  



DRAFT 
1 

Nuisance Abatement Board  February 19, 2025 

Nuisance Abatement Board 
February 19, 2025 

 
The Nuisance Abatement Board met in the City Commission Chamber.  Members Terry 
Carter, Dawn Chapman, Elena Giarratano, John Quirk III, David Stille, and Alonzo 
Thompson were present.  Member Daniel Price was absent. Assistant City Attorney Alex 
Landback, Deputy City Clerk Heather Bradman, General Counsel David Carmichael, 
and LPD staff were present. 
 

Call to Order 
 

Chair David Stille called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. 
  

Roll Call 
 
Deputy City Clerk Heather Bradman called the roll. 
 

New Member – Elena Giarratano 
 
David Stille introduced new member Elena Giarratano. Ms. Giarratano is fulfilling the 
unexpired term of James Ring.  
 

Election of New Chair and Vice Chair 
 

Heather Bradman informed the board that David Stille is no longer eligible to serve as 
Chair to the board. Mr. Stille has already served two consecutive terms as chairperson.  
 
Action: Member Terry Carter moved to nominate Member John Quirk III to serve 
as Chair. Member David Stille seconded, and the motion carried unanimously.  
 
Action: Member David Stille moved to nominate Member Terry Carter as Vice 
Chair. Member John Quirk III seconded, and the motion carried unanimously.  
 

Approval of Minutes – November 20, 2024 
 

Action: Member Terry Carter moved to approve the minutes. Member Dawn 
Chapman seconded, and the motion carried unanimously.  
 
Terry Carter asked for an update on property 1024 N Lincoln Ave heard at the November 
20, 2024, Nuisance Abatement Board meeting. Officer McGuirk and General Counsel 
David Carmichael explained they did not notice the property owners for today’s hearing. 
Mr. Carmichael would like to provide notice for a meeting next month.  
 

Swear in Witness  
 

Heather Bradman administered the oath.  



DRAFT 
2 

Nuisance Abatement Board  February 19, 2025 

 
  

NAB 25-001 - 4406 Horse Creek 
 
David Carmichael introduced the case. The house served as a distribution point for 
drugs.  
 
Officer Teddy Cuello presented the case.   

 Officer Cuello showed photos of the home.  
 Joyce Jackson and Rosa Brown share 50/50 ownership of the home.  
 Current residents: Rosa Brown, Anthony Mckennie, Kendrick Brown, and a 

juvenile.  The juvenile is the son of Rosa Brown, but not related to Anthony 
McKennie.  

 Narcotics detectives received an anonymous complaint about narcotics 
distribution at 1502 Lincoln Road. They found the seller, Anthony Mckennie, lived 
at 4406 Horse Creek Lane.  

 The search warrant conducted on November 18, 2024, uncovered narcotics 
throughout the home.  

 LPD received an anonymous letter from a neighbor who does not want drug 
activity in the neighborhood.  

 Only Anthony Mckennie and Rosa Brown’s juvenile son were arrested. Neither 
Rosa Brown nor Joyce Jackson were home at the time of the arrests. 

 The juvenile is on probation for the next 5 years.   
 Officer Cuello believes if Anthony Mckennie is released then drug related activity 

will resume. Mr. Mckennie is not on the deed.  
 Rosa Brown does not have a criminal history, but the drug activity has been 

happening in her home.  
 
Rosa Brown asked to speak to the Nuisance Abatement Board. Ms. Brown explained 
that her mother, Joyce Jackson, is hospitalized and could not be here today. Her cousin, 
Natasha Williams, accompanied Ms. Brown today. Her life goal was to become a 
homeowner by the age of 40. She has never been in any kind of trouble like this and 
neither have her boys.  
 
The Board discussed: 

 There were almost 4 pounds of marijuana in the home.  
 Even if Ms. Brown was unaware of any drugs in the home, the search warrant still 

resulted in finding illegal narcotics all over the house.  
 Assurance that Mr. Mckennie does not move back into the home upon his release 

from jail. This could be through an eviction process.  
 Rosa Brown has no issue with someone checking up on the home periodically. 

Her 16-year-old son is on probation and taking regular drug tests and attending 
therapy and drug counseling at Peace River.  

 Ms. Brown’s other son, Kendrick Brown, was not arrested at the time.  



DRAFT 
3 

Nuisance Abatement Board  February 19, 2025 

 Anthony Mckennie is charged with a life felony, so it is unlikely we will see him 
around the home in the next 12 months.  This is not the first time he has been 
incarcerated.  

 
David Carmichael said the board could elect to let the owners try to get evictions in place 
and come back to the board with proof of addressing the nuisance. The board could also 
elect to close the residence since LPD met the nuisance abatement criteria.  
 
Alex Landback reminded the board that before they reach that discussion, they must 
make a finding that the threshold has been met to declare that the place or premises 
constitutes a nuisance, and then decide how they want to move forward with the 
property.  
  
Natasha Williams addressed the board on behalf of her cousin, Rosa Brown. This case 
has affected her cousin’s physical well-being. Ms. Brown’s priority is her kids. Anthony 
Mckennie will not return to that home. Any drug activity must have been done while Ms. 
Brown was at work, so she was not aware of what was happening. Since there were 
calls about Athony Mckennie distributing narcotics at 1502 Lincoln Road then why is Ms. 
Brown’s home the only one being called into question.   
 
Action: Member Terry Carter moved to find that LPD has met the threshold to 
declare the property a nuisance. Member David Stille seconded, and the motion 
carried unanimously.  
 
Terry Carter explained he does not feel comfortable closing the home. John Quirk III is 
in favor of closing the property.  
 
Motion: Member Elena Giarratano moved to close the property for a year, and 
Member Dawn Chapman seconded.  
 
Alonzo Thompson asked to narrow down the true nuisance in this case because there 
is another property involved. David Carmichael stated that 4406 Horse Creek Lane is 
not the only property in this nuisance abatement case. However, LPD must work to build 
a case for the property at 1502 Lincoln Road.  
 
Terry Cater does not feel that boarding up the home solves the issue. Anthony Mckennie 
is no longer in the home and the son is on probation.  
 
Elena Giarratano said that the nuisance is the premises; it is not the people. Under the 
law, homeowners have constructive knowledge and are held accountable for everything 
that happens on their property. Her recommendation is to close the home. During that 
year of closure, Ms. Brown can take ameliorating steps.  
 
Rosa Brown said that her son is in trade school and going to construction sites to help 
get him a job upon graduation. He will be on probation for 5 years in a program that 
includes home visits.  



DRAFT 
4 

Nuisance Abatement Board  February 19, 2025 

 
Action: Member John Quirk III called for a vote to close the property for 12 months. 
Members Elena Giarratano, Dawn Chapman, David Stille, and John Quirk III voted 
aye. Members Alonzo Thompson and Terry Carter voted nay. The motion carried 
4-2.  
 
Alex Landback asked the board how many days before instituting the closure? It is 
normally 30 days. David Carmichael was concerned that the 30 days would fall around 
the time of the next possible Nuisance Abatement Board. Staff and the board agreed to 
institute closure at least 45 days from the date of the order rendered at the hearing with 
a written order to follow. Since the 45th day falls on a Saturday, then closure would 
commence on Monday, April 7, 2025, which will be reflected in the written order.  
  
Adjourned 4:00 p.m. 

















NAB GL#
001.170.7509.000000.201.00.000













































 
NUISANCE ABATEMENT BOARD  

OF THE CITY OF LAKELAND, FLORIDA 
 
 
 
ROSA BROWN, JOYCE JACKSON  
Respondant,                           CASE NO.: 2025-001 
    
vs. 
 
CITY OF LAKELAND,  
a municipal corporation 
Petitioner, 
___________________________/ 

 
 
 

RESPONDANT’S MOTION FOR REHEARING AND/OR  
RECONSIDERATION OF PETITIONER’S ORDER 

 
Respondents, Rosa Brown and Joyce Jackson, (“Respondents”), by and through their 

undersigned counsel, do hereby move this Board for a rehearing and/or reconsideration of Order 

on Nuisance Property entered on March 3rd, 2025, and in support thereof states: 

I. 
BACKGROUND 

1. This action stems from a property owned by the Respondents located at 4406 Horse 

Creek Ln, Lakeland, Florida.  

2. A above-mentioned property was subject to a nuisance abatement hearing on 

February 19th, 2025.  

3. The Nuisance Abatement Board found the property to be a nuisance to the 

community although no evidence was presented to show that the property was used as “the site of 

the unlawful sale, delivery, manufacture or cultivation of a controlled substance” as required by 

law. Section 893.138, Florida Statutes  



4. Respondants request that the Board rehear and/or reconsider issues related to this 

statutory requirement mentioned above.  

 

WHEREFORE, Respondents Rosa Brown and Joyce Jackson respectfully request that this 

Board grant this Motion for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy hereof has been provided via email 
to Alexander Landback Alexander.Landback@lakelandgov.net and David Carmichael 
David.Carmichael@Lakelandgov.net  on this 11th day of April 2025.  

/s/ Horace N. Moore, Jr., Esquire_____ 
Horace N. Moore, Jr., Esquire 

    WILLIAMS MOORE LAW FIRM 
     1409 W. Thonotosassa Road 

    Plant City, Florida  33563 
    (813) 719-6605 Fax No.: (813) 717-9808 
    hmoore@williamsmoorelaw.com  
    FBN: 158380  

     Chandra Smith 
csmith@williamsmoorelaw.com  

 

mailto:Alexander.Landback@lakelandgov.net
mailto:David.Carmichael@Lakelandgov.net
mailto:hmoore@williamsmoorelaw.com
mailto:csmith@williamsmoorelaw.com






















NAB GL #
001.170.7509.000000.201.00.000













001.170.7509.000000.201.00.000


	04-16-25 Agenda 1
	02-19-2025 nab minutes
	2025-002 - 1502 Amos Ave Agenda Packet
	2025-003 - 523-5 Quincy St. Agenda Packet
	2024-008 - 831 Glendale St. Agenda Packet
	2024-008 - 831 Glendale St. Notice
	2024-008 - 831 Glendale Mary Archer Letter
	2024-008 - 831 Glendale Quitclaim Deed
	2024-008 - 831 Glendale - Sisson POA

	2025-001 - 4406 Horse Creek Lane Agenda Packet
	2025-001 - 4406 Horse Creek Lane Notice
	2025-001 - 4406 Horse Creek Lane Complaint  Backup
	Nuisance Abatement Complaint - 4406 Horse Creek Lane
	Back up for NAB Complaint - 4406 Horse Creek Lane

	2025-001 - 4406 Horse Creek Lane Certified Mail Receipt Board Order
	2025-001 - 4406 Horse Creek Lane Certified Mail Receipt Notice of Hearing




